## **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

06-26-2019

# C O U R T O F A P P E A LCERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

District I

Case No. 2019AP000411 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

DECARLOS CHAMBERS,

Defendant-Appellant

ON APPEAL TO REVIEW THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED ON SEPTEMBER 8, 2017, AND THE DECISION AND ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED ON FEBRUARY 25, 2019, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY WAGNER PRESIDING ON BOTH MATTERS, BOTH ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF APPELLANT

MARK S. ROSEN
ROSEN AND HOLZMAN
400 W. MORELAND BLVD., SUITE C
WAUKESHA, WI 53188

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

I. Whether the Trial Court had erred in denying Defendant's Motion for Postconviction Relief when trial counsel had argued in her Closing Argument that the jury should consider convicting the Defendant of Second Degree Reckless Homicide. However, the

Defendant had not consented to such an argument. Defendant's position throughout the entire case, to include the jury trial, had been that he had not committed the crimes and was innocent. New subsequent United State Supreme Court case law has indicated that such argument, contrary to the Defendant's wishes, is illegal and constitutes structural error entitling Defendant to a new jury trial.

The State had originally charged the Defendant with one Count of First Degree Reckless Homicide, Party to a Crime, and a second Count of Possession of Firearm by Person Adjudicated Delinquent. Prior to the jury trial, the Defendant had rejected all plea offers. His trial attorney had indicated to the jury that he was innocent of the charges. A jury trial had subsequently occurred. During the trial, the State had requested a lesser included jury instruction of Second Degree Reckless Homicide. Trial counsel did not object. During her Closing Argument, she had argued in part, that the jury should consider convicting the Defendant of the lesser included offense. Clearly and logically, this had been an argument for guilt on the lesser included offense. However, Defendant had never authorized such concession. As indicated, his entire position throughout the case had been that he was innocent and had not committed the charged crimes. The jury convicted the Defendant of the lesser included offense. Subsequently, he had submitted a sworn Affidavit, attached to his Postconviction Relief, corroborating his position. The United States Supreme Court has issued case law subsequent to Defendant's

conviction that such a concession by trial counsel, contrary to the Defendant's position and wishes, deprives the Defendant of his Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial. Under this case law, trila counsel may not override his client's position of actual innocence. This, even if counsel is simply attempting to "cut the client's losses." Furthermore, such a concession is structural error and not subject to a prejudicial error analysis. Accordingly, Defendant is entitled to a new jury trial.

Trial Court Answered: No

#### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Appeal involves issues of law which are not settled. Arguments need to be presented in more detail in oral argument. Therefore, oral argument and publication are requested.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. DeCarlos Chambers was charged in a two Count Criminal Complaint dated January 12, 2017. Count One charged Defendant with First Degree Reckless Homicide, Party to a Crime (Use of a Dangerous Weapon), contrary to Wis. Stats. 940.02(1), 939.50(3)(b), 939.05, and 939.63(1)(b). Count Two charged Defendant with Possession of Firearm by Person Adjudicated Delinquent of a Felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. 941.29(1m)(bm), and 939.50(3)(g). The charges alleged that Defendant had been in a relatively long

standing argument with the victim. This argument had involved some shoes that the victim had borrowed from the Defendant but then would not return. Defendant had also been seeking \$15 for gas money. On the night in question, the Defendant and the victim had been arguing over the phone. Subsequently, the victim had come over to the Defendant's home armed with a pistol. Shortly before the victim had arrived, the Defendant had positioned himself behind some bushes across the street and had waited. After the victim had arrived, the Defendant had shot and killed the victim. At that time, Defendant had previously been adjudicated delinquent of a felony level offense. (1:1-3).

A preliminary hearing had occurred on January 25, 2017. After taking testimony, the Court Commissioner found probable cause and had bound Defendant over for trial. The State did not file an Information and had asked for an adjourned arraignment date. (129:1-20).

On February 7, 2017, the trial court conducted an arraignment. At that time, the State filed a Criminal Information against the Defendant charging the same two Counts, with the same charging language, against him as indicated in the Criminal Complaint. (130:1-5; 3:1-1).

A final pretrial had occurred on August 7, 2017. This, after various adjournments.

Eventually, a jury trial commenced on August 14, 2017. Defendant was on trial for both Counts in the Criminal Information.

The jury returned its verdicts on the afternoon of August 16,

2017. At that time, the jury found the Defendant guilty of the lesser included Count One of Second-Degree Reckless Homicide, party to a crime, While Armed with a Dangerous Weapon, as well as Count Two. (140:2-3).

On September 7, 2017, the trial court sentenced Defendant on Count One to eighteen years prison, to consist of ten years initial confinement plus eight years extended supervision. On Count Two, the trial court sentenced the Defendant to a consecutive five year sentence, to consist of two years of initial confinement plus three years of extended supervision. (141:19-20) (97:1-2; A 101-102).

Subsequent to Defendant's conviction, Defendant had served a Motion for Postconviction Relief. This Motion had contained Defendant's supporting Sworn Affidavit, attached as Exhibit 4. Defendant had filed this Motion, with supporting attachments, on December 12, 2018. (113:1-14; 114:1-9; 115:1-8).

Subsequently, the trial court had issued a briefing schedule. (116:1-1). The trial court later modified this schedule. (119:1-1). The State filed its Response Brief on February 5, 2019. (120:1-10). Defendant then filed his Reply Brief, also with attachments. (121:1-10; 122:1-5).

The trial court issued a Decision and Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief. The trial court issued this Decision and Order on February 26, 2019. (123:1-3; A 103-105).

Defendant filed his Notice of Appeal, with attachments, on February 27, 2019. (124:1-2; 125:1-5).

Defendant is filing this Appellant's Brief in a timely fashion

and pursuant to the Court's scheduling.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. DeCarlos Chambers was charged in a two Count Criminal Complaint dated January 12, 2017. Count One charged Defendant with First Degree Reckless Homicide, Party to a Crime (Use of a Dangerous Weapon), contrary to Wis. Stats. 940.02(1), 939.50(3)(b), 939.05, and 939.63(1)(b). Count Two charged Defendant with Possession of Firearm by Person Adjudicated Delinquent of a Felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. 941.29(1m)(bm), and 939.50(3)(g). The charges alleged that Defendant had been in a relatively long standing argument with the victim. This argument had involved some shoes that the victim had borrowed from the Defendant but then would not return. Defendant had also been seeking \$15 for gas money. On the night in question, the Defendant and the victim had been arguing over the phone. Subsequently, the victim had come over to the Defendant's home armed with a pistol. Shortly before the victim had arrived, the Defendant had positioned himself behind some bushes across the street and had waited. After the victim had arrived, the Defendant had shot and killed the victim. At that time, Defendant had previously been adjudicated delinquent of a felony level offense. (1:1-3).

A preliminary hearing had occurred on January 25, 2017. After taking testimony, the Court Commissioner found probable cause and had bound Defendant over for trial. The State did not file an

Information. Instead, the State had asked for an adjourned arraignment date. (129:1-20).

On February 7, 2017, the trial court conducted an arraignment. At that time, the State filed a Criminal Information against the Defendant charging the same two Counts, with the same charging language, against him as indicated in the Criminal Complaint. (130:1-5; 3:1-1).

A final pretrial had occurred on August 7, 2017. This, after various adjournments. This had been several months after the State had originally charged the case. Trial attorney Ann Bowe was Defendant's trial counsel. At that final pretrial, Ms. Bowe had indicated the following to the trial court:

MS. BOWE: "But Mr. Chambers has been clear from the day he got arrested that he did not do this and that he wasn't going to plead guilty no matter what. And that's his position today." (134:3).

After this statement from Ms. Bowe, the trial court had then indicated that the offer should be placed on the record. At that time, the State had indicated that it would be willing to amend the charge to Second Degree Reckless Homicide, While Armed, with a potential discussion that the State would be willing to amend the charge to just a Second Degree Reckless Homicide. The State had indicated that it was its understanding that the Defendant did not want to take this proposed plea offer. The State would be willing to just recommend prison up to the court. The State had also agreed to dismiss and read in Count Two. (134:3-5).

Eventually, a jury trial commenced on August 14, 2017.

Defendant was on trial for both Counts in the Criminal Information.

On the afternoon of August 15, 2017, the State had rested. At that time, the State had indicated that it, with respect to Count One, would be requesting a lesser-included Second Degree Reckless Homicide jury instruction. At that time, trial counsel had indicated that the defense would not be objecting. (138:68-69). However, this request had been solely at the State's request. At no time did the Defendant indicate that trial counsel had been authorized to argue for a conviction on the basis of the lesser included offense. Any argument on his part that the State could argue for conviction of the lesser-included offense is not an agreement that his counsel could also so argue.

Closing Arguments had occurred on the morning of August 16, 2017. At that time, Ms. Bowe had argued the following:

MS. BOWE: "But the jury instruction tells you to all see if you can agree on first-degree reckless. And only if you can't, then you should go to the second part, which is second-degree reckless, right?

Second-degree reckless is also criminally reckless conduct. Which I think everybody would agree that should you have a gun, shooting in the direction of a house or a person, is criminally reckless conduct.

And I think that under these circumstances, the second-degree reckless - that does not include utter disregard for human life is something you should consider. There's an actual description.

And the jury instructions from the judge say the difference between first and second-degree reckless homicide is that first-degree requires a proof of one additional element. Circumstances of conduct showed utter disregard for human life.

So again, shooting a gun in the dark, when somebody is shooting a gun already, and it's clear that the ShotSpotter evidence is that there is overlapping shots, right? It's not like one person or one gun shoots and then stops, and then another gun shoots, does not support first-degree reckless homicide." (139:34-35).

The jury returned its verdicts on the afternoon of August 16, 2017. At that time, the jury found the Defendant guilty of the lesser included Count One of Second-Degree Reckless Homicide, party to a crime, while armed with a dangerous weapon, as well as Count Two. (140:2-3). Once again, the lesser included conviction on Count One had been the same charge that trial counsel Bowe had urged the jury to consider. This, as opposed to the original First-Degree Reckless homicide charge.

On September 7, 2017, the trial court sentenced Defendant on Count One to eighteen years prison, to consist of ten years initial confinement plus eight years extended supervision. On Count Two, the trial court sentenced the Defendant to a consecutive five year sentence, to consist of two years of initial confinement plus three years of extended supervision. (141:19-20) (97:1-2; A 101-102).

Subsequent to Defendant's conviction, Defendant had completed a sworn Affidavit. In this sworn Affidavit, Defendant had indicated that trial counsel's argument that the jury should consider the lesser included offense of Second Degree Reckless homicide had, to him, been a concession of guilt. He had never authorized her to make such an argument. She had never discussed with him, prior to Closing Arguments, that she would make any such argument. He had

repeatedly indicated to her that he did not commit the charged offense of shooting and killing the victim in the matter. His position throughout the matter, to include the jury trial, was that he did not commit the homicide in question. His only position throughout the trial was for his attorney to argue that he was innocent and had not committed the crime at all. This was the only instruction that he had given to his attorney. He had never changed this instruction, nor this position. He had made this position, that he had not committed this crime, clear to his attorney throughout this case and the trial. Defendant had attached this Affidavit to his Motion for Postconviction Relief, attached as Exhibit 4. Defendant had filed this Motion for Postconviction Relief, with the supporting attachments, on December 12, 2018. This Motion had argued that subsequent United States Supreme Court case law had now ruled that counsel's conduct of arguing for guilt over the Defendant's wishes violated his Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial. This case had further indicated that such conduct had been structural error, entitling Defendant to a new jury trial. (113:1-14; 114:1-9: 115-8; Exhibit 4).

The attached Affidavit to the Motion for Postconviction Relief, Exhibit 4, had been consistent with trial counsel's statement at the final pretrial. As previously discussed, this statement had been that the Defendant's position had been that he was innocent of the charge, that he did not commit the crime, and that he was not going to plead guilty, no matter what.

Subsequently, the trial court had issued a briefing schedule.

(116:1-1). The trial court later modified this schedule. (119:1-1). The State filed its Response Brief on February 5, 2019. (120:1-10). Defendant then filed his Reply Brief, also with attachments. (121:1-10; 122:1-5).

The trial court issued a Decision and Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief. The trial court issued this Decision and Order on February 26, 2019. The court's short three page Decision and Order had essentially indicated that trial counsel's conduct had not conceded guilt. (123:1-3; A 103-105).

Defendant filed his Notice of Appeal, with attachments, on February 27, 2019. (124:1-2; 125:1-5).

Defendant is filing this Appellant's Brief in a timely fashion and pursuant to the Court's scheduling.

#### ARGUMENT

SUBSEQUENT UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT CASE LAW HAS INDICATED THAT A TRIAL COUNSEL MAY NOT ARGUE FOR A DEFENDANT'S GUILT AT A JURY TRIAL OVER THE DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION. SUCH A POSITION IS STRUCTURAL ERROR AND MANDATES A NEW JURY TRIAL. A FINDING OF PREJUDICE IS NOT REQUIRED. ALSO, SUCH A POSITION IS NOT SUBJECT TO A HARMLESS ERROR ANALYSIS. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION AND ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF DOES NOT ADEQUATELY REBUT SUCH A CONCLUSION.

Questions of law require independent appellate review, while questions of constitutional fact are also subject to independent review and require an independent application of the constitutional principles to the facts. <u>State vs. Turner</u>, 136 Wis.2d 133, 401 N.W.2d 827 (1986). Whether any constitutional principles have been

offended involves an independent review by an appellate court. State vs. Michels, 141 Wis.2d 81, 414 N.W.2d 311 (Ct.App. 1987).

A new rule for the conduct of criminal prosecutions is to be applied retroactively to all cases, state or federal, pending on direct review or not yet final, with no exception for cases in which the new rule constitutes a "clear break" from the past. State vs. Koch, 175 Wis.2d 684 at 694, 499 N.W.2d 152 (1993) citing Griffith vs. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314, 93 L.Ed.2d 649, 107 S.Ct. 708 (1987). A new rule of substantive criminal law is presumptively applied retroactively to all cases, whether on direct appeal or on collateral review. State vs. Lagundoye, 268 Wis.2d 77 at 88, 674 N.W.2d 526 (2004); Bousley vs. United States, 523 U.S. 614, 140 L.Ed.2d 828, 118 S.Ct. 1604 (1998); State vs. Howard, 211 Wis.2d 269, 564 N.W.2d 753 (1997).

This present case is part of the direct appeal proceedings.

The Sixth Amendment rights of a Defendant is violated when a trial counsel argues to the jury that Defendant had been guilty of the crimes over the Defendant's vociferous insistence that he did not engage in the criminal acts and had objected to any admission of guilt. A trial counsel may not admit his client's guilt of a charged crime over the Defendant's intransigent objection to that admission. Such a violation of a Defendant's Sixth Amendment secured autonomy constitutes structural error, warranting a new trial, because the admission blocked the Defendant's right to make fundamental choices about his own defense. A Defendant has the right to insist that counsel refrain from admitting guilt, even

when counsel's experience based view is that such an admission is in the client's best interest. With individual liberty at stake, it is the Defendant's prerogative, not counsel's, to decide on the objective of his defense: to admit guilt in the hope of gaining mercy at the sentencing stage, or to maintain his innocence, leaving it to the State to prove his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. When a client expressly asserts that the objective of his defense is to maintain innocence of the charge criminal acts, his lawyer must abide by that objective and may not override it by conceding guilt. The ABA Model Rule of Professional Conduct 1.2(a) (2016) provide that a lawyer shall abide by a client's decisions concerning the objectives of the representation. McCoy vs. Louisiana, 138 S.Ct. 1500, 200 L.Ed.2d 821, (2018).

In McCoy vs. Lousiana, a 2018 United States Supreme Court case, McCoy had been charged with three homicides. However, he had pleaded not guilty, and had indicated that he had been out of State and that corrupt police had committed the killings when a drug deal had gone wrong. He had vociferously insisted on his innocence and had adamantly objected to any admission of guilt. However, the trial court had permitted his trial counsel to tell the jury that McCoy had committed the murders. Trial counsel's strategy had been to concede that McCoy had committed the murders, but argue that his mental state had prevented him from forming the specific intent necessary for a first-degree murder conviction. The jury had found McCoy guilty of the three first-degree murder convictions. McCoy vs. Louisiana, 138 S.Ct. 1500 at 1503.

Supreme Court United State had reversed convictions. The Court had indicated that the lawyer's province is trial management, but some decisions are reserved for the client, including whether to plead guilty, waive the right to a jury trial, testify on one's own behalf, and forego an appeal. Autonomy to decide that the objective of the defense is to assert innocence belongs in the reserved for the client category. These are not strategic choices. When a client makes it plain that the objective of his defense is to maintain innocence of the charged criminal acts and pursue an acquittal, his lawyer must abide by that objective and may not override it by conceding guilt. Id. at 1503-1504, 1508-1509. The possibility of an acquittal, even if remote, may be more valuable to a Defendant than the difference between a lesser and a greater sentence. Id. at 1508.

Furthermore, the Supreme Court in <u>McCoy</u> had indicated that an ineffective assistance of counsel jurisprudence does not apply here where the client's autonomy, not counsel's competence, is in issue. Here, the violation of McCoy's protected autonomy right was complete when counsel usurped control of an issue within McCoy's sole prerogative. Violation of a Defendant's Sixth Amendment secured autonomy has been ranked "structural" error; when present, such an error is not subject to a harmless error review. An error is structural if it is not designed to protect Defendants from erroneous conviction, but instead protects some other interest, such as the "fundamental legal principle that a Defendant must be allowed to make his own choices about the proper way to protect his

own liberty. Counsel's admission of a client's guilt over the client's express objection is error structural in kind, for it blocks the Defendant's right to make a fundamental choice about his own defense. Under such a situation, a Defendant must be accorded a new trial without any need first to show prejudice. <u>Id.</u> at 1504., 1510-1511.

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