Filed 10-19-2020

Page 1 of 31

FILED 10-19-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP411-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DECARLOS K. CHAMBERS,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT I, AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, BOTH ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

#### **RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Chambers forfeited his right to raise a *McCoy* claim on appeal because he did not timely object after his lawyer allegedly conceded his guilt during closing argument. A defendant may forfeit a *McCoy* claim by failing to timely object to an alleged concession of guilt because such a concession is not the functional equivalent of a guilty plea, which requires an express waiver. Applying the forfeiture rule here makes sense because trial counsel's statement at issue was ambiguous, so an objection could have allowed counsel to clarify that she was not admitting Chambers' guilt. There is also a sandbagging concern here because Chambers is raising an unpreserved claim that, if successful, would entitle him to automatic reversal of his convictions.

II. Putting aside the forfeiture issue, Chambers' *McCoy* claim fails on the merits because his trial counsel did not concede his guilt. She instead advanced an innocence defense by asking the jury to find Chambers not guilty, arguing that the State had not met its burden of proof, and disputing the identity of the person who shot the victim. Counsel made a vague statement that might have been an alternative argument implying that Chambers at most was guilty of a lesser-included offense. But counsel never said that Chambers was guilty of that lesser offense. An alternative argument of this sort is not a concession of guilt. Rather, courts have found concessions of guilt only in cases where lawyers clearly admitted their clients' guilt, which did not happen here.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. By not timely objecting at trial, Chambers forfeited his claim that trial counsel impermissibly conceded his guilt.

"The Sixth Amendment guarantees to each criminal defendant 'the Assistance of Counsel for his defence." *McCoy v. Louisiana*, 138 S. Ct. 1500, 1507 (2018). The *McCoy* Court recognized a defendant's Sixth Amendment "[a]utonomy to decide that the objective of the defense is to assert innocence." *Id.* at 1508. It thus recognized a defendant's "right to insist that counsel refrain from admitting guilt." *Id.* at 1505.

the circuit denied Chambers' Because court postconviction motion without a hearing, the issue before this Court is whether Chambers is entitled to a hearing. See State v. Sholar, 2018 WI 53, ¶ 51, 381 Wis. 2d 560, 912 N.W.2d 89. A circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing before granting a defendant relief based on attorney error unless the State concedes error. See State ex rel. Panama v. *Hepp*, 2008 WI App 146, ¶ 22, 314 Wis. 2d 112, 758 N.W.2d 806; see also Sholar, 381 Wis. 2d 560, ¶¶ 50-51, 53-54. But a defendant is not entitled to a postconviction hearing if his claim is forfeited. See, e.g., State v. Saunders, 2011 WI App 156, ¶ 29, 338 Wis. 2d 160, 807 N.W.2d 679.

Relying heavily on *McCoy*, Chambers argues that Attorney Bowe admitted his guilt despite his instructions to pursue an innocence defense. (Chambers' Br. 13–24.) Because Chambers forfeited that claim by not objecting at trial, he is not entitled to a hearing.

The State will first explain why a defendant can forfeit a *McCoy* claim without an express waiver, and then it will explain why Chambers forfeited his *McCoy* claim.

# A. A defendant may forfeit a *McCoy* claim by not timely raising it at trial.

Although a litigant cannot forfeit certain claims by failing to object, a *McCoy* claim is not one of them. In other words, a defendant can forfeit a *McCoy* claim without an express waiver.

"Whereas forfeiture is the failure to make the timely assertion of a right, waiver is the intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right." State v. Ndina, 2009 WI 21, ¶ 29, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612 (citation omitted). "[S]ome rights are not lost by a counsel's or a litigant's mere failure to register an objection at trial. These rights are so important to a fair trial that courts have stated that the right is not lost unless the defendant knowingly relinquishes the right." Id. ¶ 31. Those rights include "the decision whether to plead guilty," "the decision whether to request a trial by jury," and "the decision to obtain the assistance of counsel and to refrain from self-incrimination." State v. Albright, 96 Wis. 2d 122, 129–30, 291 N.W.2d 487 (1980), modified on other grounds by State v. Weed, 2003 WI 85, 263 Wis. 2d 434, 666 N.W.2d 485.

But a defendant can lose the right to assert an innocence defense without knowingly waiving it. Because a lawyer's concession of a client's guilt is *not* "the functional equivalent of a guilty plea," the client's explicit acceptance of a concession strategy is not required. *Florida v. Nixon*, 543 U.S. 175, 188 (2004) (citation omitted). A defendant still "retain[s] the rights accorded a defendant in a criminal trial" when his lawyer concedes his guilt. *See id.* (citation omitted). This Court has likewise held that a lawyer's admission of a defendant's guilt at trial did not waive the defendant's trial rights and was not the functional equivalent of a guilty plea. *State v. Gordon*, 2003 WI 69, ¶ 24, 262 Wis. 2d 380, 663 N.W.2d 765.

In addition, the *McCoy* Court repeatedly emphasized the importance of a defendant's objection to a concession of guilt.<sup>3</sup> The *McCoy* Court distinguished *Nixon* because the defendant in *McCoy* "adamantly objected to any admission of guilt." *McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1505. The defendant in *McCoy* objected pretrial when he learned of his attorney's proposed strategy to concede guilt to avoid the death penalty. *Id.* at 1506. The defendant later objected at trial, "out of earshot of the jury," when his lawyer conceded his guilt during opening statement. *Id.* The defendant in *Nixon*, by contrast, could not fault his lawyer for conceding his guilt because he "complained about the admission of his guilt only after trial." *Id.* at 1509 (citing *Nixon*, 543 U.S. at 185).

So, *Nixon* and *McCoy* show that a defendant can forfeit his Sixth Amendment right to insist on innocence without an explicit, knowing waiver of that right. A lawyer's concession of guilt is not the functional equivalent of a guilty plea, which does require a defendant's knowing waiver. The right recognized in *McCoy* can thus be forfeited where, as here, a defendant fails to timely object to counsel's alleged concession of guilt at trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See, e.g., McCoy v. Louisiana, 138 S. Ct. 1500, 1509 (2018) (concluding that "McCoy disagreed with [trial counsel's] proposal to concede McCoy committed three murders, [and] it was not open to [counsel] to override McCoy's objection"); *id.* at 1510 (holding that "counsel may not admit her client's guilt of a charged crime over the client's intransigent objection to that admission"); *id.* at 1511 (holding that "counsel's admission of a client's guilt over the client's express objection is error structural in kind"); *id.* at 1512 (concluding that "[t]he trial court's allowance of [trial counsel's] admission of McCoy's guilt despite McCoy's insistent objections was incompatible with the Sixth Amendment").

To be clear, the State is not arguing that a contemporaneous objection is a required element of a McCoy claim. McCov prohibits a lawyer from conceding a client's guilt "[w]hen a client expressly asserts that the objective of *'his* defence' is to maintain innocence of the charged criminal acts." McCov, 138 S. Ct. at 1509 (emphasis in original) (quoting U.S. Const. Amend. VI). So, a McCoy claim has two elements: (1) a defendant's express instruction to pursue an innocence defense, and (2) a concession of guilt by his lawyer to the fact-finder.<sup>4</sup> A defendant may satisfy that first element even without objecting after his lawyer makes a concession of guilt. See United States v. Felicianosoto, 934 F.3d 783, 787 (8th Cir. 2019), cert. denied, 140 S. Ct. 2644 (2020). To satisfy that first element, a defendant must object to a lawyer's proposed concession strategy before the lawyer concedes guilt to the jury. See In re Smith, 263 Cal. Rptr. 3d 63, 73 (Cal. App. Ct. 2020), review filed (July 1, 2020). A defendant cannot meet that element by first objecting after the concession has occurred. See id.

So, there is a difference between proving a McCoy violation and preserving a McCoy claim, though each requires a defendant's objection. To prove a McCoy violation, a defendant must show that he expressly opposed his lawyer's strategy to concede guilt before the concession occurred. To preserve a McCoy claim for judicial review, a defendant must object to a concession of guilt shortly after it occurs. A court need not reach the merits of a claim that is forfeited due to a defendant's failure to timely object.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Again, at this point in the litigation, the State does not dispute that Chambers expressly told Attorney Bowe to pursue an innocence defense. *See supra* note 1. The State instead disputes whether Attorney Bowe conceded Chambers' guilt.

*Mitchell v. State*, 84 Wis. 2d 325, 339, 267 N.W.2d 349 (1978).

In short. Wisconsin's contemporaneous-objection forfeiture rule can apply to a *McCoy* claim. A *McCoy* claim is not one of the few constitutional issues that are exempt from this forfeiture rule. *Nixon* supports this conclusion because it recognizes that a concession of guilt is not akin to a guilty plea or a waiver of the right to a trial. And McCoy supports this conclusion because it recognizes the importance of a defendant's objection to a concession of guilt. When a defendant forfeits a *McCoy* claim by not timely objecting at trial, a court need not consider the merits of the claim. In that situation, a court need not decide whether the lawyer conceded guilt or whether the defendant instructed her not to do so.

# B. Chambers forfeited his *McCoy* claim by not timely objecting to his trial counsel's alleged concession of guilt.

"[A] specific, contemporaneous objection is required to preserve error." State v. Delgado, 2002 WI App 38, ¶ 12, 250 Wis. 2d 689, 641 N.W.2d 490. "The [forfeiture] rule serves several important objectives. Raising issues at the trial court level allows the trial court to correct or avoid the alleged error in the first place, eliminating the need for appeal." State v. Huebner, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 12, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727. "It also gives both parties and the trial judge notice of the issue and a fair opportunity to address the objection." Id. This rule also "prevents attorneys from 'sandbagging' errors, or failing to object to an error for strategic reasons and later claiming that the error is grounds for reversal." Id. (citation omitted).

Page 19 of 31

This Court should enforce this forfeiture rule here. Chambers could have avoided the need for this appeal had he raised his concession issue at trial. Had Chambers objected to the alleged concession at trial, Attorney Bowe could have clarified that she was not conceding Chambers' guilt. The circuit court could have instructed the jury to disregard any possible implication that Attorney Bowe was conceding Chambers' guilt. And the circuit court could have developed the record on this claim during the trial, for eliminating the potential need a postconviction evidentiary hearing. A contemporaneous objection by Chambers thus could have preserved scarce judicial resources.

Applying the forfeiture rule here especially makes sense because Attorney Bowe's alleged concession of guilt was an ambiguous statement that only suggested the jury should consider the lesser-included offense. Chambers' own affidavit seems to acknowledge this ambiguity. His affidavit states that "Ms. Bowe had argued to the jury during Closing Arguments that the jury should consider second degree reckless homicide as a lesser included offense to the original charge of first degree reckless homicide. This, to me, was a concession of guilt." (R. 115:7-8 (emphasis added).) Because Chambers interpreted Attorney Bowe's ambiguous statement to be a concession of guilt, he should have raised this issue with Attorney Bowe or the circuit court before the jury returned its verdict. Raising an objection could have allowed Attorney Bowe to clarify her ambiguous statement.

There is also a substantial "sandbagging" concern here because Chambers is seeking automatic reversal. "[C]ounsel's admission of a client's guilt over the client's express objection is error structural in kind," which means that "such an error is not subject to harmless-error review." McCoy, 138 S. Ct. at 1511. Allowing a defendant to seek "automatic reversal" without a timely objection would "encourage[] gamesmanship." State v. Pinno, 2014 WI 74, ¶ 61, 356 Wis. 2d 106, 850 N.W.2d 207. The fact that Chambers is asserting a structural error supports the conclusion that he forfeited his *McCoy* claim by not timely raising it at trial. This Court should help reduce future opportunities for gamesmanship and sandbagging by holding that Chambers forfeited his *McCoy* claim.<sup>5</sup>

# II. On the merits, trial counsel did not concede Chambers' guilt.

Regardless of whether Chambers forfeited his McCoy claim, he is not entitled to a hearing because his claim fails on the merits. "[A]n evidentiary hearing [on a postconviction motion] is not mandatory if the record as a whole conclusively demonstrates that defendant is not entitled to relief, even if the motion alleges sufficient nonconclusory facts." *State v. Sulla*, 2016 WI 46, ¶ 29, 369 Wis. 2d 225, 880 N.W.2d 659 (citation omitted). The record conclusively shows that Chambers' claim is meritless because Attorney Bowe did not concede Chambers' guilt.

# A. Courts find concessions of guilt only when a concession is clear.

"When a client expressly asserts that the objective of *'his* defence' is to maintain innocence of the charged criminal acts, his lawyer must abide by that objective and may not override it by conceding guilt." *McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1509 (emphasis in original) (quoting U.S. Const. Amend. VI).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Of course, the contemporaneous-objection rule might apply differently in other situations. If a defendant alerts a circuit court to a McCoy problem before trial but does not object after a concession of guilt happens at trial, the pretrial objection could be sufficient to preserve the McCoy claim for appeal.

Many courts adopted that holding long before *McCoy*. See id. at 1507, 1510. Precedent from other jurisdictions shows what kinds of statements are concessions of guilt. This Court should look to those decisions for guidance because the *McCoy* "Court did not explain what kinds of concessions count as 'conceding guilt." *United States v. Wilson*, 960 F.3d 136, 143 (3d Cir. 2020).

When courts find an admission of guilt by trial counsel, the admission is clear. In one case, for example, the Illinois Supreme Court concluded that "[t]he concession of defendant's guilt by his attorneys was unequivocal. In the opening statement, one of defendant's attorneys told the jury, 'We are not asking you to find Charles Hattery not guilty.... [Y]ou will find him guilty of murder." People v. Hattery, 488 N.E.2d 513, 518-20 (Ill. 1985) (second and third alterations in original). A federal appellate court found a concession of guilt in a similar case where, "[t]hroughout the closing arguments, both attorneys for [the defendant] repeatedly stated to the jury that [the defendant] was 'guilty,' 'guilty as charged,' and 'guilty beyond reasonable doubt." Wiley v. Sowders, 647 F.2d 642, 649-50 (6th Cir. 1981) (per curiam). Other courts have found concessions of guilt when lawyers told the jury to find the defendant "guilty but mentally ill." Cooke v. State, 977 A.2d 803, 843 (Del. 2009); People v. Fisher, 326 N.W.2d 537, 538 (Mich. Ct. App. 1982) (per curiam). Another court found a concession of guilt, in violation of *McCoy*, where "[c]ounsel specifically told the jury he was not asking them to find defendant 'not guilty,' and further stated that the facts fit second-degree murder or manslaughter." State v. Horn, 251 So. 3d 1069, 1074 (La. 2018) (emphasis added).

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